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Chairman Richard Goldstone

I welcome everybody to this afternoon session on the first day of the two days of hearings in Gaza City. Particularly I welcome Mr. Wail El-Samouni, who is here to speak to us this afternoon. Um, Mr. Samouni, um, I just want to confirm that you are aware, I just want to confirm that you are aware that these proceedings are being, uh, televised live to a conference hall, uh, in Gaza City and, uh, also to internationally and that you have no objection to that.

Mr. Wail El-Samouni

I have no objection whatsoever.

Chairman Richard Goldstone

Thank you. Well, Mr. Samouni, if you could introduce yourself and tell us for the record, put your name on record and what your occupation is and if you’ll then take us through the events, um, of January 4-5 please.

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
In the name of God, the merciful, my name is Wail El-Samouni. I’m from the El-Samouni family.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Sorry, are we getting sound? Sorry, mine is not working.

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Can you hear me?

Professor Christine Chinkin

Are you turned on? 

Male Interpreter

Any interpretation? Is the interpreter being heard?

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Okay, okay.

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Right, what I have seen myself was seen by nobody else. It was an appalling massacre. Nobody had expected that massacre to happen. A hundred and five persons were gathered in my house, twenty-two of whom were killed. They were our dearest, my sons, my cousins. I lost the dearest to my heart. We were blockaded, we were rounded up, 105 persons were rounded up in one room; children, women, elderly, all of whom were rounded and gathered at the house. They did not talk to us.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Sorry, Mr. Samouni, if you could just go a little bit more slowly and tell us in more detail what happened from when this incident began.

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Concerning the incident itself, we were gathered, uh, generally in my house. I was there with my children, my wife, altogether we were twelve persons. My relatives were gathered in my house at about 5:00 in the morning. When I ran outside the house I heard, uh, shootings. I saw my cousin Salah. He was carried his 6 month baby. He said that it was probably the resistance that targeted my house. I didn’t know. So I said, he said to me, “Bring your ID and come with me.” So I went with my cousin. I carried my cousin, who was, uh, 6 months old. I took my cousin inside the house. So my cousin said, “Well those who were shooting were Israelis.” So I went back to my mother, I said goodbye to her, and I said, “I may not come back again.” So the Israeli soldier told me to go back into the house. 

So when I got back into the house I went back with this 6 month old baby who started to cry. So I wanted to carry the baby back to his father in the other house. However, the Israeli Mossad, uh, personnel were rounding up all the persons, bringing them back to our house at gunpoint. So at about 100, my cousin’s house was about 100 meters to the east of my house. They brought them all to my house, gathered them all inside the house. When I looked at them I saw that there were so many of them. So I talked to my mother and I said, “What am I going to do with all these persons? How am I going to cater for them? How am I going to bring and put food on the table for them?” So my mother, uh, baked about 100 loaves. Everybody had enough to eat. But we didn’t have any drinking water. The reservoirs, the tanks were destroyed. None of us was able to leave the house. 

It became dark and the night was falling. None of us was able to leave the house. We didn’t have any drinking water. We had children. We couldn’t do anything for them. So when the night fell I was wondering how am I going to provide them with covers, with, uh, blankets, with mattresses. But thank God, I mean we managed to, uh, provide cover and, uh, blankets for everyone. 

So it was pitch dark. We heard shooting and we were afraid. In the morning we, uh, got ready for the prayers and along with the call for the prayers at the dawn time, we kissed each other goodbye and we were expecting to die. So my mother said, “How about if we prepare some breakfast for the children? At least they will not die hungry.” So I, my cousin, uh, a number of my cousins, we went out to find some, uh, firewood to prepare the, uh, breakfast. As we were leaving the house, uh, we were targeted by an Apache missile. Two of my cousins died immediately. I was, uh, wounded. I was brought into the house. Someone was trying to cater for my wounds but the house was, uh, targeted with another Apache missile right inside the house. Ten persons, uh, were killed immediately. 

So we didn’t understand why we were targeted. We tried to, uh, talk to the Israelis. We told them, “You gathered us all inside that house, all the children, women, and elderly. Why did you target us?” The Apache, uh, targeted us again with another missile. Fifteen other people were killed. So, uh, we couldn’t do anything. We were helpless. All the survivors were shouting and screaming. Everybody was saying, “Let’s leave the house. It’s better to die outside than inside.” We couldn’t do anything. We were helpless. I was the last to leave the house. I, uh, had in my arms a 5 year old baby. His elbow was crushed and I was barely able to stand on my feet. But with God’s help I was able to stand up again. I ran across, uh, my, uh, mother-in-law. She was wounded. I told her, “Listen, I mean if you still have some time to live, God will give you the force to stand up again and leave.” 

So I walked for about three meters. I was carrying my, uh, kid. I ran across another, uh, child who was dead. There was a hole in his leg, uh, his left leg was torn to pieces. So I dropped my, uh, 5 year old kid and tried to carry the other child who was lying on the floor. But he was dying. He became pale. So I considered that he died and I said goodbye to him. I left the house. When I left the house there were 22 people dead. I couldn’t see anything. It was pitch dark, full of smoke. The Apache helicopters fired four missiles inside the house. 

So I left the house. I was taken to Shiffa Hospital where I spent four days. Every time we would try to get back to our houses to evacuate the wounded or the dead we were fired at. The area was declared a military zone. Uh, after four days, uh, the rescuers, uh, went to the area, rescued nine persons. Uh, my child whom I considered dead was still alive. When they brought him to the hospital, I couldn’t believe my eyes. I had thought that he was dead. Uh, a 14 year old, uh, son died, another daughter died. So I thought that son was dead too. So when they brought him to the hospital we were able to send him to Saudi Arabia. He was, uh, treated at a civilian hospital and I’d like to thank the Saudi authorities for taking care of him.

We are human beings. Why are you doing this against us? You killed our elderly. You killed our women, our children. You destroyed our sources of living. We are calling for our rights. We didn’t bring any harm to anyone. Why have you targeted us? All those who were killed were workers who used to formerly work, uh, in Israel and they were known to the Israelis. So was that the compensation for the work that they did in Israel? 

The Al-Zaytoun area is a pacifist area. It’s a farmland area. We didn’t have any Islamic Jihad or Qassams or anything. We didn’t have any, uh, resistance operators whatsoever. We didn’t have any resistance. What we witnessed by our own eyes was witnessed by no one in the world. They destroyed our sources of living. They destroyed everything. What we are calling, uh, for is our rights. We would like to understand why did you do this to us. We didn’t do anything to you. You killed a 5 year old, uh, kid. You killed an elderly woman. You killed our children. We don’t know what we do. Our houses were destroyed. My house was destroyed. It was 180 square meters, uh, and it was destroyed. I built this from my own work, uh, revenue. They leveled my house to ashes. Uh, our life is unbearable, uh, now we have makeshift nylon toilet. 

Uh, we want our rights to be observed. I think the entire Palestinian people are calling for the implementation of its legitimate rights. You have destroyed the Palestinian people. You brought harm to the Palestinian people. You brought prejudice to the Palestinians. We’re suffering from a blockage and a siege. Hopefully God will lift this siege one day. We hope, uh, that everybody, Jews would be paid. The Samouni family has been destroyed. Our sources of living have been destroyed. Our houses have been destroyed. We don’t even know how to manage again, how to survive again. 

Every time we go back to the area, uh, our memories go back to our kids, to our cousins, to our elderly, to our women. We can never forget them. So we are now undergoing a terrible time. No one is having mercy on us. No one is having mercy on our wounded, on our kids, our orphans. Please find a way to send these people out for treatment. Those who died, well, it was their fate. They died but we still have wounded, we still have injured, we still have handicapped people. We need some mercy. Look at these people with an eye of mercy. We don’t know what to do. We lost everything. We’ve lived in this area, in the Al-Zaytoun area. We were born there. We have nowhere else to go. We don’t want anyone to leave. We want our rights to be met. Our sources of living have been destroyed. Please have mercy on the Samouni family and on the entire Palestinian people. Please lift the embargo, lift the blockade so that we can go back to our families, to our houses, uh, so that we can regain our sources of living so that we can make a living, uh, in order to put food on the table for whatever is left of our family members. 

I lost my mother. I lost my son. I lost my daughter. I lost my sister-in-law, my nephews, my cousins. I lost so many people. I’m not talking about one or two. Twenty-nine members of my family were killed. It was an appalling massacre. No one had expected that thing to happen. 

So we’re calling upon the entire international community to support us, to, uh, have mercy on us, on the Samouni family and on the Palestinian people. But the, uh, massacre that was committed against the Samouni family was the most appalling of all. Why were we gathered in one house? They could have asked us to evacuate the area. They could have asked us to seek shelter elsewhere. Why did they ask us to, why did they gather us in one house and then target us with missiles and shells? This is, uh, prohibited. This is inacceptable. Uh, the weapons that were used against us were internationally prohibited. Why did you annihilate the Samouni family? Why did they gather them in one house and target them, children, elderly, uh, women? So if you’ve lost all your dearest in life, what can you do? what hope can be left for you well those who died, they died and may God have mercy on them but what we want now is for the international community to have mercy on us, to help us regain and recover our sources of living. 

Well thank God; God has endowed us with patience, with faith. So without such faith, without such patience, we wouldn’t have been, we wouldn’t have been able to survive. Uh, so an 8 year kid who, uh, is amidst corpses of his own relatives, what do you think his reaction will be? His shoulder has been crushed. Uh, he can’t even, uh, reach his mouth with his own hand. He’s no longer living a normal life. He keeps telling me that his brother died, his sister died, “Where are they, they used to play with me? Where are they now? My cousins died.” So, I don’t know really know now. Well may God consider them as martyrs and may God compensate them. 

I hope that the international community will take our tragedy into consideration. The entire Samouni family was destroyed. Their land was destroyed. Their land was churned. We have no trees left. What we are asking for is one thing, one question. Please answer this question. Why did the Israelis do this to us? They completely destroyed us. They killed our children, our women, and once you have left your loved ones, what can you do in life. Why did you do this? Why did the Israelis do it? If you wanted to kill us, well why did you do that? My cousin was executed in front of the very eyes of his father. So, uh, my cousin said, “Why are you targeting my father,” but they executed him in front of his very father. This is inacceptable. How would you execute a kid who was asking for help, was asking the soldiers not to kill his own father. But, well, thank God we have patience and this is a virtue. 

So that’s God’s will and we accept God’s will. All what we need is for our rights to be observed, the rights of the Samouni family to be observed. You completely destroyed us. No one would have accepted this. No state in the world would have accepted this. No human being would have accepted this. We have no shelter, no home, no place to go to; however, we will continue to adhere to our land. This is our land. This is the land of our ancestors. Whatever happens to us, come what may, we’re not going to leave that land. Whatever happens, we will die in our land. If we are unable to do anything, our children will do something. But we will keep this land. The Israelis said, well they could have, they could have asked us to evacuate the area before they destroyed it if they had it in their mind to destroy the area. 

I think the Israelis are intent on, uh, annihilating the entire Palestinian people; women, children elderly. I don’t know what an 8 year kid do to the Israelis, to Sharon, or to the Israeli government. We cannot, uh, understand what’s happened but thank God and we accept God’s will. Four of my cousins were killed, their children, their wives; my aunt, her husband were also killed. Up to 18, er 29 persons died from the El-Samouni. This annihilated the entire Samouni family. All the elderly, the children of the Samouni family were killed. We, we’re left with nothing. 

We hope that the international community will stand by us, will have mercy on the Samouni family, on the Palestinian people. But the Samouni family was destroyed. No one is having mercy on us. No one is expressing support for us, not even help us, uh, take the wounded abroad, the children abroad. Many of them are still suffering from their injuries. But, thank God anyway. God be praised.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Thank you Mr. Samouni.

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Salah? Salah?

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Other members of the commission, if they have questions?

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Salah, Salah is with me and he was there, uh, in the area and he has more details if I may call him. He’s right here with me.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Well just – are there any questions you have?

Colonel Desmond Travers

Yes I have maybe one when Salah comes in.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
No, no I think they’re coming in one at a one.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Oh are they?

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Yeah.

Colonel Desmond Travers
I have some questions. Thank you very much for the information you’ve given us and my condolences to you on the loss of your family. I have some general questions for you. Would you be in a position to describe the Israeli soldiers, either by their speech, their language, or their uniform, uh, that came into your house? Thank you.

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Well the soldiers did not enter my house at all. When I saw them I was about 400 meters away from them. They were in disguise. Uh, their faces were tinted with black. But they did not walk into my house. But the El-Samouni martyrs stayed, uh, under the rubbles for eighteen days. They decayed. When they pulled out of the rubble, they had already decayed. No human being would have accepted that. But I didn’t see the soldiers inside my house. We were targeted from the air, from the apache helicopters. We were targeted five times. We have a sample of the missiles that were fired against our house. We still have those, uh, shrapnels.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Thank you.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Um, just one, I have one question. Mr. Samouni you mentioned that the land was destroyed. Can you tell us about that?

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Yes.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
How was the land destroyed and by whom?

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
Well, uh, the land was bulldozed. The houses were bulldozed. Our sources of living, I’m talking about the, uh, olive trees, uh, the vegetables, the fig trees, uh, the farmland was completely destroyed. Nothing is left.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
What was the area of land that was bulldozed? Can you give us some indication?

Mr. Wail El-Samouni
The Samouni, uh, land that was destroyed was about 80 dunams, which is about 80 acres, which, uh, were destroyed and that land was our source of living. The land was completely turned over, has nothing left of it. The only thing you can see is just earth.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Thank you Mr. Samouni. Now you want to call, um, who is the other witness you wish to call?

Professor Christine Chinkin

Salah.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
If he can be called in?

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
Peace be upon you. Peace be upon you.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Could you give us your full name please?

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
Uh, my name is Salah Helmi El-Samouni.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
And I understand you also want to tell us something about the events of the 5th to the 6th of January. Is that correct?

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
Yes.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Please carry on.

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
In the name of God, the most compassionate, the more merciful, you know that, everybody knows that, uh, the area of Al-Samouni is an area of agricultural activity and, uh, my kith and kin used to work within the, uh, Green Line that is within Israel in agricultural activity and cultivations there, because work here, down here, uh, doesn’t give much. They work on husbandry. They work on cultivating olives. But, this has been already obliterated totally by the Jews. Uh, I left my house when we were, uh, we left our house and, uh, after that, on the 5th, some people were calling me out of my house. I thought they were the resistance people but they were the IDF people. Uh, they asked me to freeze and then they, uh, asked me to bring my pants down and I told him that I worked for fifteen years, uh, using a tractor at theNitzareem settlement and, uh, I’m a familiar face to the, uh, Israelis and I am not activist in any group. It is a regular work and then back home. Then he asked me whether I was like Qassam or Hamas or any Jihad. I said no. I said no and I swore that I did not belong to anybody. He took my ID. He looked at it. He said, “Go ahead.” 

After that, one and a half hours lapsed and we told him that, “You are just hitting our house, uh, for no reason.” After one and a half hours the army came, another group of the army, took us out and jammed us at the house, uh, of our cousin Wail and, uh, at 10:00 or 10:30 in the morning my father, uh, went out to, uh, to, uh, tell them that he spoke Hebrew well fluently and he described us as sons, daughters, wives, and so on, and 25 of us left the house, took us and many houses of our cousins were culled at Wail’s house. Wail actually is just a porch, uh, and, uh, we asked them to allow us to go to Gaza. They refused. They refused. We asked to go on Salah ad-Din Road towards Gaza. They refused and after that they sorted us one by one by one. When we left our homes and they sorted us and they inspected us. Uh, we were carrying our children and our women with us. 

Then about 5:00, uh, there is a space of about two meters and the weather was very, very cold and, uh, we fixed some sandwiches for the children and, uh, with the loaves and we fed the children. There was no, uh, striking, no bullets, no nothing but only there was a Hebrew guy look outside looking around the, uh, fold we were, uh, grouped in. after that we went to sleep. The next morning, that is 5th of January, at 3:00 we heard some bullets for about 10-15 minutes. After that we heard nothing. There was silence and we just took out in that space of two meters and we were under the, uh, you know, the, the  inspecting eyes of the, uh, IDF because they were overlooking everybody and we started doing some loaves for, uh, for the children once again and we were, uh, trying to collect some sticks for feeding the fire to fix the, to bake the, uh, loaves and then we, uh, exchanged greetings with some of our neighbors and before we did anything we, uh, saw missiles falling down in that space of two meters where we were collecting sticks. 

So we hurried inside the house and we, we, I found that I was hit in my head and, uh, in my, uh, head and also there was shrapnel in my back and some in my legs and there is one in my cheek here. After one and half minutes maximum they, uh, hit us by the Apache, the rockets. Rockets hit us were fired by the Apaches because they were long and, uh, also I found the same in Wail’s house. I thought that I was dying and I started calling, uh, “there is no God but Allah,” and, uh, it was just a miracle that I was still alive and I found myself, uh, getting up. I found, uh, Azza my daughter, this is her picture. The age is 2½ years only. I carried her. I found her already dead and here, uh, when we, uh, took her after thirteen days, the bodies had started to decompose and she was, she was getting to my rescue as a daughter and she was killed on the spot. So I, I, searched for my, uh, mother. When I, uh, got her, saw her head outside, I found that half of her head was gone. When I looked at, uh, my father, I found him breathing his last and as to my, uh, wife, she had shrapnel in the head. Uh, other wives of my cousins and, uh, the guts of my cousins and nephews are out and, uh, these are my cousins who God martyred and these are the, uh, other young children who got martyred in the, uh, same house and these are, uh, the in-laws, my wife and the in-laws and, uh, my father insisted that he spoke Hebrew fluently. 

This is my, uh, uncles. They are farmers. I swear to God and they were working within Israel and this is a picture for them when they were working in Bat Yam within Israel. Uh, I am sure that Israel came in to kill children and women and the laborers who work within Israel. Anybody who leaves a workplace gets some, uh, certificate of appreciation. Instead they were giving their end, the bullets. I don’t know why. Why the Jews did that with us? Uh, were they wanted? Were they resistance or were these children wanted by Israel? These children? What about this young girl? Was she, uh, wanted by Israel also? This is her picture and these are the rest of the children. These are all children. What did they do to Israel? What did they do? I wish I could know. I wish I could know what did they do to Israel, my children or the rest we have. My mother, my aunt, uh, and many other women, this is the eldest son of hers and, uh, these are their cousins. They killed a person, they killed a person, uh, before his father just for the reason that he snatched the, uh, slacks of the soldier and asked him, “Why are you killing my father?” 

They didn’t stop at that. The, uh, olive, the olive trees and, uh, orchards all were uprooted. They destroyed the husbandry batteries we had. We are just displaced people with no livelihood except what God gives us to sustain us. I feel that we are living in the woods, in the jungle. We, uh, uh, it is might is right and this is the, uh, rule under which we live now. Before this war I, uh, viewed certain movies whether Indian or Arab or Western when the director makes this, uh, makes this film, inserts an end in the film showing that justice would prevail against the criminal. But if this end is not there, uh, you feel that, uh, that the injured remains injured without any justice despite civilization, despite high technology. Why? Why are we still living in a jungle where might is right? Thank you very much indeed. God bless you.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Thank you Mr. Samouni. Any questions?

Ms. Hina Jilani

I have just one.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Please.

Ms. Hina Jilani
I just wanted to understand. We were told by Mr. Wail the whole, uh, episode but we are a little unclear about [Audio interruption] we are a little unclear about when you left the house, uh, after some of you were injured. What happened? How did you get to Shiffa Hospital or wherever you were going? Those events are a little bit unclear.

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
When we were attacked on the 5th of January, the, uh, we left the house at our own instance, uh, but the rest of us were afraid that they would be killed outside. I said to be killed outside the house is much better and we, uh, took the Salah ad-Din Road towards the hospital but, uh, the IDF were overlooking everything. I asked my relatives and my cousins for any, uh, first aid, uh, and I asked the army to, uh, allow us to avail of the first aid. He said, “Get back to your death and meet your death,” and they hit us with, uh, a number of bullets. We didn’t care. We walked for, uh, two kilometers. There was a checkpoint, actually an earth, uh, wall. Then after that, uh, there was another, uh, checkpoint which they consisted of, built of, uh, the scrap, uh, belonging to one Al-Sawaf, a neighbor of ours. Then we were everywhere, everywhere we were requesting, we were calling for rest, we were calling for help and, uh, everybody said, including those of the Red Crescent and the, uh, Red Cross, “We are not able to, uh, come to us.” They were not able to come to our rescue. Also some other people who followed us, those groups who followed us, uh, they were handcuffed. They were handcuffed, uh, and one of them was hit with a bullet in the foot and he, uh, profused [sic] blood for three days until he met with his end. I was born in 1978 and now I set my birthday is January 5, 2009 because I consider that I was out and down. Thank you very much indeed.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Thank you very much for coming to speak with us Mr. Samouni. I think our next witness then, uh, will be Ms. Abir Hajji.

Ms. Hina Jilani
Thank you.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Ms. Hajji.

Ms. Hina Jilani
Thank you.

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
Sir, can I introduce the pictures of the martyrs? 

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Sorry, he has to speak into the microphone. Which one?

Professor Christine Chinkin

They’ve given him one.

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
This was my uncle. This was also my uncle. This was my father. They used to work in Israel at the time when the crossings were open. They worked on farmlands in Israel. This was my cousin Rashad’s son. This was also my cousin. The other one, my cousin, my cousin. This was another cousin. Faris, Wail’s son; this was my father’s cousin. This was my, uh, father’s cousin. He used to work on a tractor; my other cousin, this was my father’s uncle, the old man. Uh, a family member, this was my daughter Azza; my aunt; uh, my sister-in-law; Wail’s daughter Raja; my niece Safa’; my mother Rahma; my sister-in-law; a member of the Samouni family; my cousin; my mother-in-law; this is also my uncle’s wife, the mother of the cousins who got martyred. That one is Wail’s niece. Uh, I wish I can find an answer to the question what did we do to them. None of us was a member of the resistance. They did not bring us any food, any water. They only targeted us with missiles. I have shrapnel of those missiles that were fired at us. Thank you, thank you, we hope to God that you have mercy on us. That’s all that we ask for, have mercy on us.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Mr. Samouni we appreciate the pain that you’ve had to re-suffer by coming to speak to us and we thank you for that.

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
Thank you, thank you very much, thank you sir.

Ms. Hina Jilani
Thank you.

Mr. Salah El-Samouni
Thank you ladies and gentlemen.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Good afternoon Ms. Hajji. Thank you for coming to speak to us this afternoon. Can you hear? Um, I want to be sure you, I want to be sure that you understand that the proceedings here are being, uh, filmed by television and are being shown, uh, at a conference hall in Gaza but also internationally and I understand that you have no objection to that.

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji

No objection sir.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Thank you. Now I understand that you live in the area, uh, where the Samouni family lived. Is that correct?

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji
Yes, we are from the Hajji family.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Right, and I understand that you can tell us also some of the events that took place in the area where you live on the 5th of  January 5 of this year.

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji
My husband died. My daughter also died.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Yes, please, uh, tell us what happened.

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji
On the morning of, uh, January 5, it was a Monday at about 1:30 a.m., we were woken up by a very loud explosion which shook the house, shattered the windowpanes. I and my husband were sleeping on the floor to get, uh, refuge from the shooting. So we crumbled, we crawled to the, uh, sitting room. So I tried to get some blankets and some, uh, mattresses for my kids. I went back to, uh, my brother’s house and, uh, I wanted to take shelter in my brother’s house. Then I returned to my home to get the children. I stayed in one of the rooms to look for my mobile phone to use it as a lamp. 

Uh, after that I heard an explosion inside the house. When I heard the explosion I heard, uh, my children screaming and shouting for their father but their father did not answer them back. I ran towards them. It was pitch black. I didn’t see anything. I tried to probe myself around until I reached them. I called, called  Mohammed, my husband, but he did not answer me. I tried to find my way through using my mobile lamp. I saw that he was lying behind my daughter. My daughter told me that her arm was warm but her arm was covered with blood. Then I saw my husband lying behind them. I tried to pull him towards me but I found out that his ear, his eyes were damaged. He was bleeding from his ear and eye. 

So I shouted at my, uh, brother-in-law in the neighboring house and I called him to come to the house to see what happened. I ran to the door. I opened the door but I didn’t know that the Israeli soldiers were out outside the house. I didn’t know that they were, uh, stationed outside the house. So I opened the door. Uh, my brother-in-law came into the house, uh, hugged his brother and he told me that his brother died and then joined us in the room where we were gathered. My, uh, son asked his uncle to shut the door but as soon as he shut the door the Israeli shoulder broke into the door, shooting the door down. I was carrying my, uh, 3 year old daughter and I, uh, waved my daughter to the Israelis telling them that I had kids with me. Uh, but the soldiers shouted at Nasser, my, uh, brother-in-law, and the Israeli soldiers asked him if he was Hamas. So my brother-in-law told the soldiers that he was Hamas nor Fatah and that there were no members of neither Hamas nor Fatah in the area. But the Israeli soldiers said, “No, no you are Hamas,” and the Israeli soldiers were laughing aloud although they saw the corpse of my husband and that made them laugh. 

So they asked my, uh, brother-in-law to, uh, strip and then asked him to pull his brother to another, uh, room. They carried, the soldiers carried all the, uh, mattresses and blankets and threw them on my, uh, husband’s body. The Israeli soldiers came to our room and pointed their laser pointed guns at us. We were filled with panic and fear. We had never seen soldiers acting so atrociously and appallingly. They took us to another room inside the house and asked us to all sit down inside that room but there were, uh, glass panes everywhere, glass pieces everywhere. But that did not prevent them from taking us to that room. They asked my, uh, brother-in-law to wipe my husband’s blood with a bucket of water and we heard them dig into the tiles in the house. 

We then heard them talk with their walkie-talkie. Then the soldiers came to the room where we were and ordered us to follow them. I took a look around in the house. I didn’t see my house and I didn’t see anything else. The only thing I saw is that my house was full of soldiers who were digging into the tiles. Then the Israeli soldiers pulled us out of the house. They asked us to stand in line. I and my kids stood in line. At that time my kids, uh, thought the Israeli soldiers were going to shoot them, as they usually see on television. So I asked them to get ready for death. When they did, one of the Israeli soldiers ordered us in very poor Arabic to follow him. 

After that we were taken to Nasser’s house, just, uh, next door and there I saw many more soldiers, uh, around 60 soldiers in that house. They took me along with my children to one of the rooms and there I saw four families from the Nasser house. We were the fifth family to join them. I was taken to a room inside and I saw handcuffed young men, uh, four of them were blindfolded, the rest of them were kids in fear and in panic. Those, uh, uh, people who were in the room asked me what happened to me. I said, I told them that my husband was killed. My daughter, little daughter whom I was holding in my hands, was asking for her dad. But her dad was nowhere to be seen. Then she pointed to the sky and told me that her father was in heaven. She realized that her father passed away. Then my daughter told the soldier that she felt hungry but the Israeli soldier said, “No food, go inside.” I was afraid that the soldiers may do something because I know that they are merciless. 

So I went inside. My daughter, who was a 13 year old, said, “Well I am going to fetch some food for her.” My daughter carried her sister and went to the soldier and asked him for food. I warned her that the soldier may do something against her but she said, “I want to bring food to my daughter, to bring water to my daughter.” I saw soldiers carrying water, carrying food, and they were behaving as if nothing was happening. They didn’t have any regard for the kids and the women. So the soldier ordered my daughter back to the room. She said, “I only want some bread.” She reiterated her request a number of times. Then the soldier finally allowed her to go into the kitchen but at gun point. She went to the kitchen, uh, and came back with a loaf of bread. She told me that the soldiers were lying around, uh, in couches relaxing as if nothing was happening. 

We stayed in the house for about twelve hours until the, uh, noontime call for prayers and we knew that it was the prayer time. After the prayer call was off the soldiers, uh, separated us women, children, to leave and go to Rafah. We told them that we have no relatives in Rafah. We’d rather go to Gaza. But the soldiers said, “If you go to Gaza, you will die. You better go and die in Rafah.” But the Israeli soldiers ordered the men, or the young men, to stay in the house. We said, “Why leave the young men in the house? Why don’t we take them with us?” He said, “No, only the owner of the house can accompany you.” We left the house and at that time the owner of the house besieged the Israeli soldiers and begged them to take his 18 year old son with him. He told him that he was a child. Then the Israelis said, “Okay you can take him.” They un-cuffed him, un-blindfolded him, and we took him with us. We tried to find some clothes, tried to find some shoes, but the Israelis prevented us from doing so and asked us to leave the house without. 

When we went outside we found out the Israeli soldiers had digged [sic] into the tiles, had broken the, the, walls. So we left and the Israeli soldiers shut the door behind us. Uh, we went out the house. We were on the road. As we were walking on the road, I came across, uh, my cousin. Uh, he was on the road but it was, uh, there was shooting but he was unable to go anywhere. So when we reached him he asked us where we were going. He said, “We were in your cousin’s house,” and told him that we were going to Rafah. So he joined us. By the end of the road, uh, by, by the Sika Road, he said, my cousin said, “Let us go and see if my uncle is in his house.” 

When we reached my, uh, Uncle Abu-Mustafa’s house, we knocked at the door but there was no answer. The door was open but there was nobody inside. We went to check, uh, my other, uh, cousins’ house. We shouted too but there was no one inside. So we walked, uh, we were joined by, uh, a number of the Arafat families who were waving white flags. They joined us and walked with us. They were carrying white flags and there the Israeli soldiers started shooting at their legs. We tried to take shelter on the ground near a cactus tree and as we were there, one soldier who was on top of Abu-Zour’s building roof ordered us to go to Rafah. But we begged him to allow us to go to Gaza. He said, “No, go to Rafah.” We said, “Okay, let’s go to Rafah.”

At that moment we, uh, shot our arms in the air. We threw our arms in the air. We surrendered and we started our walk towards Rafah. But the Israelis started sporadically shooting at us at random. Uh, we were nearby my Uncle Abu-Riziq’s house. So, uh, those who were wounded crawled inside my Abu-Riziq’s house. Ulla, uh, collapsed by the door and we thought that she died. Actually she was killed. As I was looking at her I found out that both Nasser’s son Mohammed, Sameer’s son were injured and they were bleeding. 

I was still standing by the door. I was so shocked I collapsed on the floor. I was still carrying my daughter. But one of the sharpshooters fired at us one bullet and I was wounded in my right arm. My daughter was shot in her heart. She was barely 3 years old. I pulled my daughter and crawled into the house. I thought that my daughter died. I threw her towards my, uh, mother-in-law, Om Helmi. I told her that my daughter died. But my father-in-law said that my daughter did not die. My, uh, other, uh, daughter realized that my little daughter was not dead yet. She was only wounded.

 So the only thing I wanted to do is to help my little daughter. I did not care about what was going to happen to me. My two other daughters were wounded at the time their father was killed. My daughter, Noor, who was 6 years old, Nagham, who was 13, were wounded at the time when the house was targeted. But, uh, I thought that my little daughter who received a bullet in her heart died immediately. So I handed her over to her sister. I was injured in my arm. We left the house in the direction of Rafah. The soldiers ordered me to do so and I said I want to go to Rafah. I wanted to, uh, find some first aid for my daughter. 

As I was walking I saw corpses all around, mutilated corpses. Limbs were severed, wounded from the Juha family and Hajji family were also there and they wanted to walk with us. So we tried to take the Sika dust Road in the direction of Salah ad-Din Street. We walked towards the Salah ad-Din Street but the Juha family said, “Let’s go back.” I told them, “Well if you want to go back you can go back on your own but we are going to go to Rafah as we were ordered by the Israeli soldiers.” 

I carried my little daughter and walked in the direction of Rafah. We walked for about three kilometers until we got to the Gaza Wadi. So the only thing we saw was a helicopter which was hovering the area. We didn’t see it but we knew that we were under surveillance and that, uh, in the Gaza Wadi area we saw someone. We asked them if the area was secure. Uh, the person had a car. Uh, he, uh, took us in his car to the hospital and then I took my, uh, daughters to the schools first. But after that when I got to the hospital I didn’t know that my daughter, uh, was shot in the heart. I thought she was shot in the back. That’s why I put some white drape on her, white sheet on her, uh, back. But then I realized that her heart burst. 

When she arrived at the hospital the doctors tried to reassure me and to tell me and to set my heart at ease that my daughter was going to survive but five minutes later my daughter died. We stayed in Deir al Balah for fourteen days but my, uh, husband stayed, my husband’s body stayed in the house under the rubble for fourteen days. Then, uh, my family later after the war ended went back to the house, buried my husband. I was two months pregnant but because of the war I had a miscarriage. 

Chairman Richard Goldstone

Thank you very much Ms. Hajji. Any questions?

Colonel Desmond Travers

Thank you for that very detailed piece of information. My condolences to you on the loss of your children and the loss of your husband. I have some questions. Would you have any idea why the IDF, the Israeli soldiers, were breaking the tiles in your house?

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji
Of course, they wanted to take the sand to fill, uh, sandbags because after that we found sandbags on top of, uh, the house.

Colonel Desmond Travers
I missed the earlier part of that answer. Could you give it to me again please?

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji
Uh, we found, uh, sandbags, small sandbags filled with sand and they were put on top of the walls, uh, by the windows and that’s why, uh, we understood why they dig into the tiles to get the sand out.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Would you be able to describe these soldiers, either by their accent or by their uniform or by any information they may have given when they were talking to you?

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji
Well, the soldiers wore helmets covered with tissue. Uh, they looked like the soldiers we saw on TV. Their faces were tinted and black. Some of them spoke poor Arabic and some of them spoke Hebrew.

Colonel Desmond Travers
Thank you, thank you.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Ms. Hajji, thank you very much for coming to speak to us. We can imagine what difficulty the pain that you must suffer by having to relive and retell what happened to you. But thank you very much for coming to talk to us.

Ms. Abir Mohammed Hajji
No problem.

***
Chairman Richard Goldstone
You’re Khaled Rabbo? Thank you very much for coming to meet with us. I want to be sure you, uh, are aware that – thank you for coming to speak with us. I want to be sure that you are aware that the proceedings here are being, uh, televised to a conference room here in Gaza City but also worldwide and that you have no objection to that.

Mr. Khaled Abed Rabbo

No sir.

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Yes, thank you. Mr. Rabbo, I understand you can tell us about the events, the tragic events that occurred to you on January 7 and please go ahead and tell us, tell us in some detail what happened.

Mr. Khaled Abed Rabbo
My name is Khaled Rabbo. I’m 30 years old. I live, uh, in the east of Jabalia, next to the Israeli borders. Of course we used to live in, uh, a house, a four story house. our house, uh, or our area rather was subjected to many incursions and each and every time the army would, uh, invade the area, would come into our houses but, uh, no harm was done to, uh, civilians or to children. Last time, that is before the last war on Gaza, that was on January 3, 2008, the Israeli army came in our house and stayed three days and destroyed many things inside the house but left without harming the civilians or the children. Now during the last war that is on January 7, 2009, actually the ground war had already started and we heard that Israel had declared war on Hamas. We are civilians. We have nothing to do with Hamas and we were used to have the Israeli army come into our area. 

So I thought this time we could stay in our houses. We had nothing to do with Hamas. We did not pose any danger to Hamas. The war, the ground war started on Gaza and, uh, as of the first half hour approximately on January 4, the Israeli army controlled the whole area. There was no resistance in the area. It’s an area nearby the Israeli border. Of course we were inside the houses. We were surprised because the war went on for four days while we were still inside our houses. On January 7 at 12:50 p.m. the Israeli army bulldozed our garden and the Israeli tanks were positioned in front of our house. They started yelling at us through the speakers and asked us to leave the house. 

So I came out along with my wife and my three children: Suad, 8 years old, Samar, 4 years old, and Amal, 3 years old, and my mother, 60 years old. We were all holding white flags. The Israeli army was stationed right across from our house. So we stood by our entrance and holding flags, white flags. The tanks were seven meters away from our house. So like I said, we were by the entrance holding white flags and waiting for them to tell us what we should do, whether to go back inside the house or move to somewhere else. They did not say anything to us. There were two soldiers sitting on top of the tank. One of them was eating chips. The other one was eating chocolate. We were looking at them like what are we supposed to do, where should we go, but no reaction from them whatsoever. 

We were surprised because there was all of a sudden a third soldier coming out of the tank and they starting shooting at the children with no reason, no reason, with no explanation, no pretext. My daughter, 3 years old, her, uh, stomach was, uh, hit and her intestines were coming out. So really I was amazed at how could a soldier be firing at my daughter? So I carried my daughter, 3 years old. She could hardly breathe. Like I said, her stomach was wounded. My other daughter was also wounded in her chest. So I took both of them, Samar and Amal, inside the house. My wife and my mother and my other daughter Suad were still outside. All of a sudden my wife joined me carrying Suad. She was wounded also. Her chest, uh, was, uh, wounded by, uh, many bullets. My mother, 60 years old, she was carrying the white flag and she was wounded on her forearm and also in her stomach. So we were all inside the house and, uh, we started calling the ICRC, the ambulances, anybody to come and rescue us but nobody came and all of a sudden we heard, uh, an ambulance but all of a sudden nothing, silence. But later, we saw that the Israeli soldiers asked the ambulance drivers to come out of the car, to undress, and they bulldozed the ambulance with the tank. 

Of course this happened when Israel had declared cease fire for four hours, January 7 from 1:00-4:00 p.m. and that was a truce back then and that’s when wounded civilians could be rescued and in spite of all of that, in spite of all of this declaration, the Israeli army was there right in front of our house not attempting to move. 

My daughter, Amal, 3 years old, she was dying and at the end of the day she did die. My other daughter, 8 years old, like I said, her chest was riddled with bullets. She passed away. My other daughter, Samar, her back was riddled with bullets. Her back was open. She was not breathing through her nose but through her lungs and she was telling me, “Dad, help, help,” and I couldn’t do anything. She was thirsty. I was afraid if I gave her any water something would happen. I didn’t know what to do. My mother, 60 years old, was also dying. I was helpless. I didn’t know what to do for my children. There was my daughter dying in front of me. So I carried her and left the house even if I had to die myself because I couldn’t take it anymore. So I carried my daughter and left the house again so that the soldier, he might as just well kill my daughter and kill myself because I couldn’t take it anymore. I couldn’t let my children die in front of me. 

From 12:50 until 2:50 we were stuck inside the house. Once again, like I said, I went out to the soldier. They were there, three of them and there was a Merkava tank positioned in front of the house. I was carrying Samar, even if I had to die, and I was surprised because the third soldier looked at me and two minutes later he went inside the tank and then he came out and he moved his hand just, you know, telling me you can go ahead. So I immediately went back home inside the house and told them we’re going to die anyway. So we don’t want to die inside the house. Let’s die outside the house. Let’s move. Although inside the house there was more than 25 children, my brothers, my sisters, my dad, my mom. So we had to bring children’s mattress to put my mom on top of the mattress because she was very tired. I carried my daughter Suad, 3 years old. She was dead. I left the house. My wife carried Amal, 2 years old and she joined me. My brother carried my third daughter, Samar, and we started moving. We left one after the other. While we were moving, every ten meters they were shooting, once above our heads and the other time by our feet. 

So we were trying to move and every now and then we would fall down. We walked for almost a kilometer and a half until we reached the edge of Jabalia downtown. Of course, we reached the Kamal Idwan Hospital and they confirmed that the three of them were martyred, that is Suad, 3 years old, Samar, 4, and Amal, 3 years old and but surprisingly enough they told me that Samar, no, she had survived and she was moved to al-Shiffa Hospital. I took the bodies of my two daughters in order to bury them. We didn’t have any time. This was an outrageous war and the Israeli army was moving around. So we had to bury them, Amal and Suad, and wait until they would bring Samar because we thought and we knew that Samar was going to die. 

Samar, of course, and with God’s will, Samar survived, survived so that she would be the witness before the world for the atrocities. Al-Shiffa Hospital could not treat her so she was evacuated to Egypt and from Egypt to Belgium. I would like here to thank the government and people of Belgium because they did really have a humanitarian stance and from here, from Gaza I would like to thank the government and people of Belgium for taking good care of my daughter Samar. Samar survived, paralyzed. She can move only her arms. She can speak but the rest is paralyzed. She can speak for herself and she can tell her tragedy. 

I call upon the international community and ask the international community why my children were cold-bloodedly killed? Why were they fired on? My mother, 60, she was hit in her chest; my daughter Suad, 8 years, in her chest; Samar, 4 years, in the chest; Amal, 3 years, in the chest and this is despite the fact that they are all different sizes, all the targeting was at the chest. This was execution. This was utter execution and I’m asking the world what crime did my children commit? What danger did they pose for the Israeli army? I myself was there. Why didn’t they fire at me? Why didn’t they kill me and not let me see my children die in front of my eyes. My children, until now, I cannot get myself to realize there I was looking at them while they were dying. 

Samar, until now, I haven’t seen her since the, uh, events. My tragedy is still going on. It’s not over. So what crime did I commit? I have always been a peace loving person. I’m for peace. I’ve always supported peace and despite what all happened to me I’m asking the world please, please help us live in peace. The Israeli army knows that, that I’ve never been a terrorist. I sent letters, more than 500, to different parts and I was asking why did it happen to me, why did they come to my house, kill my children without having committed any crime. What did I do? 

There was no war. It was cold-blooded murder of children. That was not just accidental. No, the soldier even chuckled, like I said. I know that Israel has a very sophisticated technology and that every operation it carries out is actually filmed and I’m asking Israel please broadcast the film of the killing of my children. Did you see my children carrying any rockets? 

Chairman Richard Goldstone

Thank you, Mr. Rabbo. Thank you, Mr. Rabbo. Thank you very much for coming to speak with us and we appreciate how painful it is for you to have to recount what you’ve told us and we thank you for that. Now what is this? This is the video?

Male

This is the video. I think he wants to stay for it.

Chairman Richard Goldstone

Hmm?

Male

He’s going to stay. This is a video. We’re going to play the video now.

Chairman Richard Goldstone

Okay. 

Video testimony starts

Ms. Kawthar Abed Rabbo

She is 4 years old. My son Mohammed, he’s a toddler. My children, Suad died at 4 years and a half, Amal is 2 ½ years old, and Rafat was 6 ½ years old. On January 7, uh, on the 7th was the fourth day of the incursion. 
[Speaking Arabic]

Ms. Kawthar Abed Rabbo

Uh, on January 7 they were, uh, before our house. They were standing before our house. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo

My name is Samar Hiedar Abed Rabbo. I saw a big soldier. He fired at me from a tank. He came out and he fired and I saw all that firing in the sky. There were two bullets exploded in my back. In the name of God, most gracious, most merciful, praise be to God, Lord of the universe, most gracious, most merciful, master of the day of judgment, you alone we worship, you alone we ask for help. Guide us in the right path, the path of those whom you blessed, not of whom those who have deserved wrath nor of the strayers. This is the key, the Fatiha. 

Ms. Kawthar Abed Rabbo

On January 7 the soldiers came to our house. We were safely in our house. When they came they were before the house next to us and we were afraid. We were living in total fear. That day the Israelis called and said leave the house. So we did. We left the house. When we left the house we were carrying white flags. The white flags we carried. It was about 12:30 and I was carrying a white flag and also my husband, Khaled Abed Rabbo and his mother, my mother-in-law. Also my children, Suad, Amal, and Samar they were before their father and, uh, Suad was carrying a white flag. So was I. I was carrying a big white flag. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo

Here there was a big stone and the, uh, Israelis were behind them and they were hiding and there was a really big stone. 

Ms. Kawthar Abed Rabbo

We have no resistance. We were peaceful people. We were just carrying our white flags and we were surprised to see a soldier come out of the tank about ten meters away from us, just ten meters away. Two standing before us and one soldier came out of the tank and he fired. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo

He fired. The bullets were firing. A whole machine gun was used. It was all fire.

Ms. Kawthar Abed Rabbo

Our house had two doors, the main door and a side door. I and my mother-in-law, we went through a door and suddenly I saw her fall on me and she was telling me, “I’m dying, I’m dying Kawthar,” and I was really surprised. So I put her on the floor and she had received two bullets and then I was surprised to see that my, uh, husband was going with the children through another door and then after I put my mother-in-law down I heard him say, “Suad is dead, Suad is dead.” When I heard that, I thought she was going to come through the door with her father. Ten meters I walked and I found Suad with about fifteen bullets in her chest and two in the neck. She was murdered. 

So there I heard my husband say, “Come and see Amal, come and see Amal, and come and see Samar. They have also died. Come and see them. Come say goodbye,” and then after, you know, for about ten minutes I was carrying Samar and Suad. I was crying and then I put them down and I went to see Samar and Amal, to see what happened to Amal and Samar. I was surprised to see that Amal, 2½ years old, all her insides were outside and she was giving her last breath and I asked her, “Do you love me Amal,” and she said, “I love you and I want sweets,” and I said, “Do you love me,” and imagine the last thing she says is, “I love you mom.” Samar stayed for over two hours bleeding and she was saying, “Bring me an ambulance. Don’t you bring ambulances to people who are wounded? Bring me water. I’m thirsty. I want water. I want ambulance.” 

For over two hours she was bleeding and we were trying to use our mobiles to call, to call for help. Every one of us had a mobile and we were calling so that somebody would hear us but there was no response for over two hours. This girl was bleeding, she and my mother-in-law, and we were calling trying to have somebody hear us and, uh, we tried to put the mobile on the radio thinking that maybe somebody might hear us and then we heard, uh, that there was, uh, uh, a calm period declared for two hours and the Israelis were constantly firing and we saw a trench that was dug in front of our house. We couldn’t really move until about 2:30 we heard the army declare that there was a calm period from 2:00 to 4:00. They repeated that, 2:00 to 4:00, so everybody would hear that there was a calm period so people can leave their houses. 

I carried Suad and my husband carried Amal and this little girl was carried by her uncle. Samar was carried by her uncle and we started to, uh, walk with them. On the way, uh, this girl, we were, uh, in front of them and she was behind us with her uncle and a soldier saw her. So he told her uncle to throw her on the floor. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo
A soldier found me and he told him, “Put her down.” He told my uncle, “Put her down. Throw her.” This is what he said and my father carried Amal. Amal is very small. She’s 2 years old, and a half, and my elder sister she is 7½ years old. 

Ms. Kawthar Abed Rabbo

They didn’t see us as we were running with our girls but when they saw her they told her uncle, “Throw her down,” and then they were surprised to see that the girl was still alive. So they told the uncle, “Come back and get her.” So thanks be to God her uncle came back and got her after she was thrown on the floor and then he came back and they took her. Anybody wounded was immediately fired at so we were very lucky because she was able to carry her. For two hours she had bled in the house. No ambulance could arrive. My neighbor, uh, he’s an ambulance driver and he was, uh, worked to help patients and we called on him and asked him to help us with the ambulance but when the ambulance came out they crushed the ambulance. They hit the ambulance and did not allow it to reach us. They did not allow the ambulance to reach us. Can you imagine to what extent the injustice is? The ambulance was on its way to us and they crushed the ambulance. They did not allow it to reach us and then we took our child to the hospital. The other two girls had, had died and we buried them within hours but my child, she stayed three days in the hospital in Gaza and she was very, very severely wounded and from Gaza was transferred to here. 

We’ve been here now for six months, from January until now, June. We’ve been here. She was with her uncle and then I, uh, caught up with them on the 14th of April. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo

On April 14 I came here. I was sick. I could not come out. 

Female Interpreter

That’s in French. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo

Eyes, nose, mouth, and hair 

Female Interpreter

Said in German. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo

I don’t want to go to Gaza. No I don’t want – I’m afraid of going to Gaza. I want my daddy to come here and I want Rafat to come here and all my aunts to come here. How are you? With this man who spoke to you? Are you okay? Is your health okay? 

Female Interpreter

We say eyes in English, in French she says. 

Ms. Samar Rabbo

I miss you. I miss you and I miss Rafat. I miss you very, very much. I’ll give you mommy now. 

Chairman Richard Goldstone
Thank you Ms. Rabbo. That brings today’s proceedings to a close. We’ll now adjourn until 8:30 tomorrow morning. 

